
Mendon City Council Meeting 

Sept 10
th

, 2015 

Mendon Station – 95 North Main 

Meeting began at 7:00pm 

 

In Attendance: 

Mayor: Ed Buist 

Council Members:  Greg Taylor, Kelly Barrett, Shawn Osborne 

Clerk:  Teena Young 

Recorder:  Paul Cressall 

Treasurer: Daphne Carlson 

Public Works Director:  Kirk Taylor 

City Engineer: Eric Dursteler 

Excused:  Jon Hardman, Bob Jepsen 

In Attendance:  Jill Pack,  Brandon Swan, Shara Swan, Marshall Nethercott, Kyler Larsen, Chad Martin, Jerilyn 

Hansen, Craig McLaughlin, Regan Olsen, Pete Watkins,  Stephen Bevan, Kurt Kotter, Bette Kotter, David Kotter,  

Karole Sorensen, Wayne Wheeler,  Michael Morgan 

 

Mayor Ed Buist called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm.   

The Pledge of Allegiance was led by a Boy Scout with the prayer being given by Shawn Osborne.   

 

Minutes:  The August 2015 minutes were reviewed and approved   

 

Bills:  The August 2015 bills were reviewed.  Motion to approve the bills was given by Greg Taylor with Kelly 

Barrett seconding.  Motion passed unanimously.  

 

No Youth Council representative was present.  Kelly Barrett stated that the Youth Council is reorganizing for the 

new school year and accepting applications. The deadline for the applications is Sept 30.  Becki Taylor has asked 

for more adult help. 

 

Gaga Ball Pit - Troop 307, with Scoutmaster Stephen Bevan, proposed the construction of a Gaga Ball pit on city 

owned property.  The scout troop had previously presented the idea in August 2015.  Prior to the City Council 

Meeting the scouts constructed a temporary pit in order to demonstrate the game.   Stephen Bevan stated that the 

scout troop would do the fundraising and construction of the project.  They just needed an approved location. The 

pit could be constructed so as to be movable.  Kirk Taylor stated that a portable version would be best, and then if 

the game is well received, a more permanent structure could be constructed.    As for a location, Mayor Buist 

suggested behind the score board on the square.   The troop will begin fundraising for the project and a location 

will be decided on once fundraising is complete.    

 

Public Hearing – Non-Motorized Trail – Wayne Wheeler 

Mayor Buist closed City Council meeting and opened the Public Hearing at 7:11PM.   

 

Wayne Wheeler informed the public of the location of the proposed trail as beginning at Deep Canyon Trail head 

and traversing a 3-4 mile loop.  The trail will be non- motorized, and no animals will be permitted on the trail 

because the location is a water shed area.  Upkeep and construction of the trail will be done by volunteers.  The 

Mountain Crest Mountain Bike Team has expressed interest in volunteering also.   

 

Wayne Wheeler mentioned that Bio West performed an environmental study which he had presented to the 

council.   Kirk Taylor stated that the mapped trail may meander too far to the east and cautioned that the trail 

needed so remain on city owned property.   Wayne Wheeler agreed and stated that he will alert the surrounding 

property owners when construction begins.  

 

Wayne has also spoken with the Forest Service who will not be involved at this stage because the trail is on 

private property.  The Forest Service had stated that they would be interested at some point in extending the trail 

onto Forest Service property, possibly extending along the Mendon Mountains.   



 2 

 

Mayor Buist stated that parking remains to be an issue.   Wayne mentioned that parking could be expanded as the 

use of the trail grows.  A lower parking area could be constructed with access to the trail.   

 

Citizen, Dave Kotter, asked about increased liability.  Wayne stated that Cache County has a trails committee 

which provides a way to minimize the liability for rural trails.  There will not be any jumps on the trail and it will 

be constructed as to be safe for young riders also.   

 

Citizen, Chad Martin, who owns the home closest to the trailhead, asked about control of the dust, the increased 

traffic, the speeds of cars traveling up to the trailhead, and the trash left on the trail.  Wayne stated that the 

volunteers would be expected to leave the area clean, trash receptacles would be put at the trail head.  Wayne 

added that if use of the trail is abused, the city can close access to the trail.  Mayor Buist added that the speed 

limit was recently posted as 25 mph and the road will be patrolled by law enforcement.   

 

Kirk Taylor stated that he talked to Joe Merritt who is over county roads.  There is an option to use dust control 

sprays that also would help with erosion on the road.   Kelly Barrett stated that the dust control spray is not too 

expensive and is a good product and option.  Kirk stated that a letter from the city could request this spray on the 

county road during high traffic months.   

 

Mayor Buist stated that he spoke with the city attorney concerning the liability.   The attorney, Bruce Jorgensen, 

confirmed that the trail wouldn’t be any different than the city sponsoring races or softball tournaments, but he did 

have a concern with the terrain of the trail.  Daphne Carlson will speak with the insurance company to see if there 

are additional costs for liability insurance if the trail is approved.   

 

Mayor Buist closed the public hearing at 7:28pm, and council meeting was reopened.     

 

Mayor Buist stated that he supports the activity for public use but remains concerned about the increased liability.  

Kelly Barrett agreed that the liability should be addressed prior to making a decision, but he is in favor of the trail.  

Shawn Osborne thinks that the trail would be well used; a minor concern is that a lot of people outside of Mendon 

may use it and increased traffic would result.  Greg Taylor is also in favor of the trail, but remains concerned 

about liability.  A sign could be placed at the trailhead to warn that users do so at their own risk.  Mayor Buist 

agreed, but cautioned that liability waivers and signs may not be sufficient.    Kelly Barrett motioned to approve 

the non-motorized trail pending that the liability insurance is verified and the cost of insurance does not increase. 

Shawn Osborne seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.   

 

Kotter Lot-split Final Plat – Dave Kotter & Kurt Kotter 

Eric Dursteller, City Engineer, displayed the Kotter Lot-split Final Plat on the projector with the setback 

requirements for the waterways concerning both the placement of a home and the placement of septic systems.  A 

letter submitted by Dave Kotter from Bear River Health Department listed a required 100ft setback from any 

water way for a septic system.    The concern is that there is only very small area for a leach field given the 

setback requirements.  Kurt Kotter stated that Bear River Health had approved the use of a different type of septic 

system using rings instead of a leach field.  Mayor Buist stated that these types of septic systems fail often. Eric 

stated that there are so many waterways through the property that a leach field would not be feasible in the West 

lot.   

 

Kurt Kotter asked if the city planned to develop the stream.  Mayor Buist stated that the city was not looking into 

developing that stream.   

 

Kurt stated that it’s not worth doing a two lot subdivision if the west lot was not a buildable lot.  He asked if the 

lot is not split, could they can go ahead and build on the property.   The council stated that Kurt should take a plan 

for a single family home to Planning and Zoning.  There are additional access issues to consider.   Mike Morgan, 

P&Z Co-Chair, stated that accessing the property from the existing private lane would require that the road be 

developed and requires a 66ft road right of way as P&Z has to plan for needs 40-50 years in the future.    

 

Mayor Buist stated that there are better possibilities of making the property work for a single home rather than 



 3 

splitting the lot.  A neighbor to the property, Jerilyn Hansen, asked whether the setbacks are required for potential 

or existing waterways to which the council confirmed that the setbacks are for existing waterways.  Craig 

McLaughlin, neighboring property owner, stated that water comes to the south of the property where the septic 

system would potentially be placed.  This area of the property is often saturated also.    

 

Kelly Barrett stated that a single family home would be a simpler option.  Mayor Buist stated that FEMA may 

impose fines to the city and officials if development in these flood zones isn’t done properly.    Eric stated that the 

area needs to be surveyed to find the base elevation, and that no basements would be allowed.  

 

Kirk Taylor added that if the lot-split subdivision is to be pursued, all utilities would need to be brought to the end 

of the property.   The distance from a fire hydrant would be far enough that an 8” line would be required and a fire 

hydrant placed.  The maximum distance from a fire hydrant is 400ft on a dead-end road.   A fire truck turn around 

would also be needed to meet the fire standard.   

 

Mayor Buist suggested that the Kotter’s work closely with P&Z.  Kurt Kotter expressed thanks for the 

information.  Mayor Buist stated that we learn as we go and are trying to do things right.  Dave stated that he 

supports the council but didn’t like to get different stories and requirements every time he came in.  Mayor Buist 

stated that we try to give them the best information, but things come up that need to be addressed.   There is a 

checks and balance system with P&Z.  The Kotter’s will most likely pursue the option of building a single family 

home and will work closely with P&Z.   

 

Cancelation of the 2015 Municipal Elections    

Mayor Buist stated that the application period for the three open city council positions has passed.  Councilman 

Kelly Barrett and Greg Taylor both sought re-election.  Councilman Shawn Osborne did not seek another term.  A 

write-in candidate, Karole Sorensen, submitted an application.   Because there are three available City Council 

positions and three candidates, there is no need for a municipal election in November.  Mayor Buist read 

Resolution 2015-004 Cancelling the Municipal Election.  The following candidates Kelly Barrett, Greg Taylor, 

Karole Sorensen will serve 4 year terms and will be sworn in Jan 4, 2016.   Shawn Osborne motioned to approve 

Resolution 2015-004 with Greg Taylor seconding the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.   

 

Consideration and recommendation of a new Planning & Zoning Commissioner 

Valarie Theurer’s term as a P&Z Commissioner has expired.   P&Z has suggested Amy Garbe, Darnee Niemann, 

and  Nancy Tolman as potential commissioners.  Jay Apedaile will ask if these people would serve on P&Z.   

 

Deputy Sutherland – Law Enforcement  

Deputy Sutherland was not able to attend.  Mayor Buist has spoken with him and asked Deputy Sutherland to 

watch the speeds on Deep Canyon road and be aware that Go-Carts are being driven on Main Street.  There 

continues to be concerns with animal control.  Cache County Animal Control is not responding on weekends or 

off-hours.  Bob Jepsen will set up a meeting with the Sheriff to discuss this problem.  There are not a lot of 

options as far as other certified animal control specialists.  Daphne will call former animal control specialist, Jon 

Hester, about options.  Shawn suggested that Wellsville City also attend the meeting with the sheriff as they have 

similar complaints.  Mayor Buist and Bob will report next month.   

 

Kirk Taylor – Public Works 

The cemetery shed roof will need to be repaired; they will do a patch to get by.  Mayor Buist stated that in next 

year’s budget, he would like to put in money for a new cemetery shed and have the old one removed.  It is time to 

start expanding the cemetery.   

 

The carbonation machine in the food stand was leaking causing mold under the cabinets.  Kirk suggested that 

stainless steel cabinets be installed; he will look into prices. Mayor Buist stated that he could look into melamine 

cabinets if the stainless is too much and perhaps have the cabinets donated.   

 

There is a secondary water pipe that is plugged at 400 N Main.  The pipe wasn’t installed property, and no one 

claims responsibility for its upkeep.  The city doesn’t have any shares and has no use for it but gets stuck with 

repair and cost.  Kelly stated that if the water is secondary and the city is not diverting any drainage into the line, 



 4 

it is not the city’s responsibility; shareholders are responsible.  The line is thought to be subsidiary of Rocky Point 

Irrigation Company.  The city will speak with the president of that company.     

 

Eric Dursteler – City Engineer 

Eric Dursteler presented the results of the ground water investigation.  The electrodes were placed into two wells 

located at Maple Rise and at Brian Gudmunson’s property.    There was not much  potential for a good water 

source.  The water is thought to surface instead of pooling underground. A well drilled in this location would not 

yield sufficient water.   

 

Because of the data found in this study, Eric called the state and requested additional grant money to investigate a 

water source lower on the bench using a geometric study.  The council is in favor of extended studies, if grant 

money is available.  The concern is that lower on the bench would be more susceptible to contaminates.    

 

Council Reports: 

Greg Taylor 

The Mendon Station floor will be refinished next Wednesday.  The piano wheel was broken and will be replaced 

with a piano dolly system.   Greg will work with Kirk to repair the cemetery roof and start planning for an 

extension of the cemetery.  

 

Shawn Osborne 

Progress is being made on the website and a repair for the email server should be done soon.  Training for the 

website will take place with Daphne and Teena.   

 

Kelly Barrett 

Becki Taylor, Youth Council Advisor, is planning to organize the Youth Council into committees so that there is 

more involvement; they will be planting a tree in memory of Emily Wright.  There are some road repairs needed, 

but Kelly would like to wait to see if a grant comes through before making improvements.   The fire department 

has had a busy week with several fires.  

 

Mayor Buist 

Mayor Buist plans to meet with the council members and staff over the next few months.  He asked Karole 

Sorensen to let him know what her interests would be on the council.  Plans for the city building are being 

finalized, and they are working with the attorney to put together a bid package.  Juliene Robins has requested 

some electrical fixes and upgrades on the square for the 24
th
 Celebrations.    Several electricians have come up 

with ideas.   

 

Shawn Osborne motioned to adjourn with Kelly Barrett seconding the motion.  The meeting adjourned at 9:00pm.  


